# KEY QUESTIONS IN LANGUAGE TEACHING

An Introduction

Alessandro G. Benati



#### **KEY QUESTIONS IN LANGUAGE TEACHING**

Innovative and evidence based, this introduction to the main concepts and issues in language teaching uses a "key questions" structure, enabling the reader to understand how these questions have been addressed by researchers previously, and how the findings inform language teaching practices. Grounded in research, theory, and empirical evidence, the textbook provides students, practitioners, and teachers with a complete introductory course in language teaching. Written in a clear and user-friendly style, and avoiding use of jargon, the book draws upon real-life teaching experiences and scenarios to provide practical advice. A glossary of key terms, questions for discussion, and further reading suggestions are included. The book is perfectly suited to language teaching modules on English Language, TESOL, and Applied Linguistics courses.

Alessandro G. Benati is Head of the English Department and Professor of English and Applied Linguistics at the American University of Sharjah. He is visiting and honorary professor at the University of York St. John and the University of Portsmouth.

# KEY QUESTIONS IN LANGUAGE TEACHING

# An Introduction

#### Alessandro G. Benati

American University of Sharjah





University Printing House, Cambridge CB2 8BS, United Kingdom

One Liberty Plaza, 20th Floor, New York, NY 10006, USA

477 Williamstown Road, Port Melbourne, VIC 3207, Australia

314–321, 3rd Floor, Plot 3, Splendor Forum, Jasola District Centre, New Delhi – 110025, India

79 Anson Road, #06-04/06, Singapore 079906

Cambridge University Press is part of the University of Cambridge.

It furthers the University's mission by disseminating knowledge in the pursuit of education, learning, and research at the highest international levels of excellence.

www.cambridge.org

Information on this title: www.cambridge.org/9781108425247

DOI: <u>10.1017/9781108676588</u>

© Alessandro Benati 2020

This publication is in copyright. Subject to statutory exception and to the provisions of relevant collective licensing agreements, no reproduction of any part may take place without the written permission of Cambridge University Press.

First published 2020

Printed in the United Kingdom by TJ International Ltd, Padstow Cornwall

A catalogue record for this publication is available from the British Library.

ISBN 978-1-108-42524-7 Hardback

ISBN 978-1-108-44140-7 Paperback

Cambridge University Press has no responsibility for the persistence or accuracy of URLs for external or third-party internet websites referred to in this publication and does not guarantee that any content on such websites is, or will remain, accurate or appropriate.

This book is dedicated to my dear wife Bernadette, my daughter Grace, and my son Francesco.

## Contents

#### Acknowledgments

#### **Prologue**

<u>**1**</u> What Do We Know About Second Language Acquisition and What Are the Implications for Second Language Teaching?

<u>Overview</u>

What Is Second Language Acquisition?

What Are the Key Theories in Second Language Acquisition?

What Are the Similarities and Differences Between L1 and L2 Acquisition?

What Is the Nature of Language?

How Does the Language System Develop?

What Is the Role of Input?

What Is the Role of Output?

What Is the Role of Instruction?

Recap

**References and Readings** 

**Discussion and Questions** 

2 How Has Second Language Teaching Methodology Evolved over the Years?

Overview The Grammar Translation Method The Direct Method The Audio-Lingual Method The Total Physical Response Method The Natural Approach The Communicative Language Teaching Approach Content and Language Integrated Learning Task-Based Language Teaching Recap References and Readings Discussion and Questions

<u>**3**</u> What Is the Nature and Role of Communication and Interactive Tasks (Speaking and Writing)?</u>

**Overview** 

What Is Communication?

What Is a Task?

What Is the Nature and Role of Speaking Interactive Tasks?

How Do We Plan a Lesson with Tasks?

Recap

How Do We Develop Effective Writing Tasks?

Writing Interactive Tasks

Recap

References and Readings

**Discussion and Questions** 

<u>**4**</u> What Is the Nature and Role of Listening and Reading Comprehension <u>Tasks?</u>

<u>Overview</u>

What Is the Role of Input in the Classroom?

How Do You Develop Effective Listening Comprehension Tasks?

Listening Text

Recap

How Do You Develop Effective Reading Comprehension Tasks?

Racism and Discrimination

Recap

References and Readings

Discussion, Questions, and Research Ideas

5 What Is the Nature and Role of Grammar, Vocabulary, and Corrective

Feedback?

Overview

What Is the Role of Grammar Instruction?

What Are the Options to Effectively Teach Grammar?

What Is the Role of Vocabulary?

<u>Recap</u>

What Is the Nature of Corrective Feedback?

What Is the Role of Corrective Feedback?

<u>Recap</u>

References and Readings

**Discussion and Questions** 

<u>**6**</u> How Do We Carry Out Second Language Research?</u>

Overview What Are the Main Characteristics? What Are the Main Research Designs? What Are the Main Instruments to Collect Data? What Are the Main Procedures? References and Readings Discussion and Questions

7 An Overall Evaluation of the Key Questions in This Book

What Do We Know about Second Language Acquisition That Is
Useful for Language Teachers and Teaching?
Is There a Particular Language Teaching Method or Approach Better Than Others?
Is There a Particular Type of Speaking Task Better Than Others?
Is There a Particular Type of Writing Interactive Task Better Than Others?
Is There a Particular Type of Listening Comprehension Task Better

<u>Than Others?</u> <u>Is There a Particular Type of Reading Comprehension Task Better</u> Than Others? <u>Is There a Particular Type of Explicit Information (Rules Explanation)</u> <u>Better Than Others?</u>

<u>Is There a Particular Pedagogical Intervention to Grammar Instruction</u> <u>More Effective Than Others?</u>

Is There a Particular Type of Error Correction Better Than Others?

#### Epilogue

<u>Glossary</u> <u>References and Readings</u> <u>Index</u>

# Acknowledgments

I would like to thank my students and colleagues at the American University of Sharjah for their support, feedback, and encouragement without which this book would have not been possible. A special gratitude to my colleagues in SLA who have read this book and two anonymous reviewers who have provided me with priceless advice on how to improve its content. I would also like to express my gratitude to Rebecca, Stephanie, Victoria, and all the colleagues at Cambridge University Press for supporting me and ensuring publication of the present book. I am grateful to Karthik, Charlie and Christine for their work on the production of the book and to Najat Alabdullah for producing the index.

### Prologue

This book is composed of six main chapters (and one final evaluation chapter) raising questions about language teaching. (Chapter 1) What do we know about second language acquisition and what are the implications for language teaching? (Chapter 2) How has second language teaching methodology evolved over the years? (Chapter 3) What is the nature and role of communication and interactive tasks (speaking and writing)? (Chapter 4) What is the nature and role of listening, reading comprehension, and writing tasks? (Chapter 5) What is the nature and role of grammar, vocabulary, and corrective feedback? (Chapter 6) How do we carry out second language research? (Chapter 7) The book ends with an overall evaluation of the questions raised.

These main questions and other related questions are examined from the point of view that a good definition of communication is the expression, interpretation and negotiation of meaning for a purpose in a given context, and that language is abstract and complex and it is not learned like any other mental phenomenon. There is a difference between acquisition and language skills. There is a difference between acquiring a second language and developing a language-like behavior.

• In <u>chapter one</u>, some of the key and relevant questions addressed in second language research to investigate how acquisition happens will be presented with the main aim to extrapolate useful implications for language teaching and teachers. Some of the findings obtained in second language research have provided important insights in determining the key elements responsible for language acquisition. A better understanding of how acquisition happens and a better knowledge of the main second language acquisition constructs would push language teachers to question the prevailing methods and approaches in language teaching. A brief account of main contemporary theories in second language acquisition is also provided in this chapter.

- In <u>chapter two</u>, the reader is provided with a brief examination of the main current and past teaching methods and approaches in language teaching. For each of them, *the main principles* and *pedagogical procedures* will be presented. The chapter concludes with a discussion on the importance to go beyond specific language teaching methodologies and the necessity to develop an evidence and principle-based approach to language teaching. One that provides language teachers with a variety of "effective options" all grounded in theory and empirical evidence from second language research.
- In chapter three, it is argued that the main goal in language teaching is to ensure that language learners develop their communicative skills in the target language. Communication is the expression, interpretation, and negotiation of meaning for a purpose in a given context. The use of language tasks promotes acquisition and provides a purpose for language use. A task can also be used to achieve a specific lesson objective. Tasks (and not mechanical exercises or activities lacking meaning) should form the backbone of the language teaching curriculum. The nature and role of interactive speaking tasks (exchange-information tasks) is examined. The nature and role of language writing in second language teaching from a communicative perspective is also examined. Writing, like any other aspects of second language development, is about communication. In real life we write e-mails, notes, letters, grocery lists, reports, and essays, and these different tasks have a communicative purpose and a specific audience. A more communicative and task-based approach to the

development of writing skills is proposed. In order to develop more effective tasks for developing writing skills, language instructors must clarify the communicative purpose of a written task and the target audience. Language teachers must integrate writing with other language skills and use more meaningful, realistic, and relevant writing tasks based on L2 learners' needs.

- In <u>chapter four</u>, input is defined as the language that L2 learners hear or see in a communicative context. Input is language that learners try to comprehend for the message contained in it. Language acquisition is input-dependent. The key issue in developing effective listening and reading comprehension tasks is to understand the nature and role of listening and reading in another language. General guidelines as to how to construct effective listening and reading comprehension tasks in the language classroom are presented. An interactive and communicative approach to teaching listening and reading skills is explained and proposed.
- In chapter five, the nature and role of grammar, vocabulary, and corrective feedback in second language learning and teaching are examined. Traditional grammar instruction (paradigms) and grammar practice (drills) are not an effective way to teach languages. Research and theory in second language acquisition provide valuable information about how grammar is learned and how different factors may impact on the effectiveness of different pedagogical interventions. These pedagogical interventions move from input (e.g., input enhancement, consciousness-raising tasks, input flood, structured input tasks) to output-based options (e.g. collaborative tasks, dictogloss, structured output tasks). The role of vocabulary is explored. Some vocabulary tasks are presented and an effective way to teach vocabulary is examined. In this chapter, the nature, types, and role of interactional modifications and corrective feedback in language learning and teaching is discussed. It is through negotiation of meaning that L2

learners not only resolve breakdown in communication and clarify somebody else's message, but also receive corrective feedback on the erroneous sentences. Corrective feedback is provided through different conversational techniques and negotiation strategies (e.g. clarification requests, confirmation checks, prompts, elicitation, repetition, recasts) during interaction and classroom tasks. In the past thirty years, the key issues addressed by teachers and scholars, as far as error correction is concerned, are: Should errors be corrected? How should we correct errors? Is the difference in effectiveness of corrective feedback depending on the nature of the feedback itself?

- In chapter six, a minimal definition of second language research is provided. The main designs (e.g., Action Research, Experimental, Observation, Case Study, Psycholinguistics Methods) and procedures used in second language research are briefly presented. Research findings from classroom-based research could lead to a revision of how best we teach languages. The purpose of the chapter is to provide the novice readers and teachers with basic research tools to carry out their own research in the classroom.
- In <u>chapter seven</u>, an overall evaluation of the following key questions is provided:

What do we know about second language acquisition that is useful for language teachers and teaching?

Is there a particular language teaching method or approach better than others?

Is there a particular type of speaking task better than others? Is there a particular type of writing interactive task better than others? Is there a particular type of listening comprehension task better than others? Is there a particular type of reading comprehension task better than others? Is there a particular type of explicit information (rules explanation) better than others?

Is there a particular pedagogical intervention to grammar instruction more effective than others?

Is there a particular type of error correction better than others?

It is impossible for an introductory book of this kind to be exhaustive. The pedagogical interventions and language teaching options presented in this book are some of the options available to language teachers. The main objective of this book is to provide suggestions for language teaching which are grounded on research, theory, and empirical evidence.

The chapters are written for the novice reader, avoiding a scholarly style and tone and using a reader-friendly approach. The book is written for students and practitioners with no or little background in language teaching or language acquisition theory and research. Each chapter has the following common sections: Chapter overview; Exemplary Study; Recap; References and Readings; Discussion and Questions. The hope is that the book will serve as a basic introduction for the novice student and language teacher who is willing to reflect on some of the key issues in language learning and teaching. 1

# What Do We Know About Second Language Acquisition and What Are the Implications for Second Language Teaching?

#### **Overview**

In this chapter, some of the most relevant questions addressed by second language research and theory will be presented with the main aim to extrapolate useful information for language teaching and teachers. Findings from empirical research have provided a shift in the way we understand and conceptualize second language acquisition and language teaching. We begin with explaining second language acquisition (SLA) with a brief overview of the key theories and a description of the nature of language.

The study of second language acquisition is the study of how L2 learners come to create a new language system with often a limited exposure to the second language. It is the study of how they can make use of that system during comprehension and speech production. For the purpose of clarification, a second language (L2) refers to a language that is acquired after the first language (L1) has been established in early childhood.

Theory and research in second language acquisition have emphasized the cognitive (mental) process involved in the acquisition of another language, how learners process language, and how they create "intake" from language input (i.e., what gets processed and what doesn't). Research and theory in second language acquisition also looks into how L2 learners accommodate language into their internal new system, and how they access the information for speech production.

Second language acquisition scholars are mainly interested in exploring the key processes and factors involved in language acquisition. Research carried out within this context is often about learners and learning (e.g., researchers are interested in finding out how particular groups process a certain grammatical feature, or how a particular syntactic structure develops in a learner's mind/brain). However, the main findings from second language research often have implications for teachers and teaching. For example, based on the research findings and theory in instructed second language acquisition research, teachers can develop effective pedagogical interventions to teach grammar.

#### Consider this ...

Name three main findings from second language research that you might already know and think of possible implications for language teaching.

1.

2.

3.

#### What Is Second Language Acquisition?

Second language acquisition consists of a series of theories, theoretical views, hypotheses, and frameworks about the way L2 learners create and develop a new language system. Bill VanPatten (2003) has equated second language acquisition research to the construction of a building. When we build a house, we need to take care of the foundation, the frame, the electrical system, the plumbing, the heat and the air system, and so on. All these are necessary steps and one alone is insufficient. Very much like those who work in house construction and are electrical contractors or plumbing contractors, in second language acquisition scholars are often dealing with different matters: the roles of input and output; how the internal language system develops; and so on.

Second language acquisition is a complex phenomenon as it entails the acquisition of different systems (e.g., the phonological system, the lexical system, the morphological system, the syntactical system). It also consists of a number of mechanisms that are responsible for how L2 learners are able to process language input, internalize language, and tap into the system for language production (output).

The field of second language acquisition research addresses two fundamental issues:

- How L2 learners come to internalize the linguistic system of another language; and
- How L2 learners make use of that linguistic system during comprehension and speech production.

Within these two fundamental and overarching issues, there have been a number of related and significant questions raised by scholars in this field and addressed by second language acquisition research and theory. The ones that have more relevance and direct implications for language teaching and will be presented and discussed in this chapter are:

– What are the similarities and differences between first and second language acquisition?

- What is the nature of language?
- How does the internal language system develop?
- What is the role of input?
- What is the role of output?
- What is the role of instruction?

Please look at the following statements about second language acquisition and indicate whether you agree or disagree.

|  | Agree | Disagree |
|--|-------|----------|
| Languages are<br>acquired through<br>imitation               |       |          |
| Language acquisition<br>is like learning any<br>other skills |       |          |
| People acquire grammar rules                                 |       |          |
| The acquisition of L1 and L2 is different                    |       |          |
| Language acquisition is largely implicit                     |       |          |
| Input and interaction  |       |          |

are key factors
Output plays a
limited role
Instruction makes the
difference
Please look at your
choices again once
you finished reading
the chapter!

Scholars in second language acquisition believe that input is a necessary ingredient for the acquisition of a second language. However, there is considerable debate over the nature and design of the internal mechanisms that create our so-called internal language system (mental representation). There are two competing accounts (domain general and language specific) as highlighted by Gregory Keating (2016: 3):

(a) some scholars and researchers argue that language is like any other complex mental tasks such as reading, playing chess, and in general solving problems. Like any other complex mental phenomenon is learned via the same domain-general mechanisms that enable us to learn how to program a computer or solve difficult puzzles;

(b) other scholars and researchers instead contend that language is special and it is not learned in the same way as other complex mental phenomenon. Their claim is that humans are hardwired to learn language and have cognitive mechanisms specifically designed to deal with language. These are separate mechanisms from the domain-general one.

This distinction made here will be useful to understand some contrasting views about second language acquisition and proposing effective options and solutions for language teaching.

### What Are the Key Theories in Second Language Acquisition?

Theories in second language acquisition have been developed and proposed in the attempt to understand how language learners come to develop and use their internal language system. Theories in second language acquisition are not mutually exclusive. In the next paragraphs we examine the main ones.

#### Behaviorism

Behaviorism that prevailed in the 1940s and 1950s made a number of claims:

- There is no innate knowledge.
- All behavior is viewed as a response to stimuli.

According to this theory, language acquisition was seen as a progressive accumulation of habits and the ultimate goal was error-free production. The L1 was seen as a major obstacle to L2 acquisition because it caused interference errors (caused by habits in the L1) and negative transfer (from L1 to L2) of habits. The concept of positive and negative transfer was central to behaviorism. Positive transfer is when learners transfer a structure from their first language to their second language. Negative transfer is when learners inappropriately use an L1 structure in the L2.

Transfer was seen as the process used by learners to rely on the L1 system to construct the L2 system.

Within the behaviorist framework, theorists believed that language acquisition involves acquiring good habits. Learners proceed from form to meaning; that is, first master the grammatical forms and then move on to express meaning. Certain conditions were applied for acquiring these habits:

- The learner imitates and repeats the language heard;
- The imitation has to be rewarded; and
- As a result of this, the behavior is reinforced and eventually becomes habitual.

This theory was translated into the Audio-Lingual Method (see <u>Chapter 2</u>), which emphasized the teaching of languages through memorization and pattern practice

(drills).

#### The Universal Grammar Theory

The Universal Grammar Theory claims that a language is a complex and abstract system that develops in the human mind. Language learning cannot be treated as a process of mechanical habit formation. The actual verbal behavior is only the "tip of the iceberg." Noam Chomsky (1965) argued that all humans possess innate knowledge of language universals and principles that regulate the acquisition of languages. These universal principles are modified in the light of the input to which humans are exposed. In other words, humans start with a knowledge of language universals and generate from that knowledge a series of hypotheses about the particular language they are learning, at the same time modifying and correcting them in the light of the data available. We are all born with some kind of special language processing ability called "language acquisition device." The presence of an innate hypothesis-making device emphasizes the active role played by the language learner. This is in antithesis with behaviorism, which views the growing mastery of the language as a "passive" response to pattern practice.

Poverty of the stimulus is a key concept in the Universal Grammar Theory. It suggests that people are born with an innate specification for language.

Researchers within this theoretical framework have been concerned with how languages are represented in the mind and how learners come to know more about a language than what they have been exposed to (poverty of the stimulus). There are many aspects of language that are universal and built in prior to exposure to the input language. Given that, humans have an innate knowledge of what is allowed and what is disallowed in a language. For example, first language speakers of English know (without being taught) the following:

(a) *I've done* (contraction of *I've* is allowed)

#### (b) \**Should I've done it*? (contraction here is disallowed)

How does a person come to know that *I've* (and contractions more generally) is allowed in some instances and disallowed in others? Despite the fact that we are not taught this, every native speaker of English comes to know what is disallowed with contractions. This is what we call a universal feature that is available to humans from the start.

The Universal Grammar Theory makes a number of key claims:

- Learners have their own internal syllabus (abstract principles) to follow that constrains language acquisition. The information contained in our mind (innate knowledge) influences the development of mental representation. Our mental representation of language is complex, abstract, and implicit.
- Universal grammar consists of a variety of features that regulates how the language operates. Languages have different characteristics as they select different features. For example, Japanese is "head final" (*Alessandro Japanese speaks*). This means that the "head" (in this case the verb) comes after the complement (the object).
- Learners make projections about the language they learn, which is often beyond the information they are supposed to know. In other words, they sometimes know how a linguistic feature works, what is grammatical or ungrammatical, without having been exposed to that particular feature.

This theory was translated into the view that learning should be allowed to take place naturally in the course of using the second language for communication. The goal of language teaching is to reproduce these natural conditions.

#### **The Monitor Theory**

The Monitor Theory suggests that L2 learners acquire language mainly through exposure to comprehensible input in a similar fashion as they acquire their first language. The main requisite for this to happen is that learners are exposed to comprehensible and message-oriented input.

Input is the key ingredient in language acquisition.

The key claims of the Monitor Theory are:

- Grammatical features are acquired by L2 learners in a specific order (order of acquisition) no matter the learner's L1. Morphological features such as the progressive *-ing* in English is acquired before the regular past tense *-ed*, or irregular past tense forms, which is acquired before third-person singular *-s*. Instruction is therefore constrained by universal and predictable order of acquisition.
- When learners acquire a second language they develop two systems that are independent from each other. The "acquisition system" (unconscious and implicit) is activated when we are engaged in communication. The "learning system" (conscious and explicit) functions as a monitor of the language we produce upon producing it.
- It is paramount that L2 learners are exposed to input (comprehensible) that is slightly above their proficiency level (i+1) and learn a second language in a very relaxed environment that enhances L2 learners' motivation.
- Learners who are comfortable and have a positive attitude toward languages will have their affective filters low and will have access to comprehensible input. Stressful environments in which learners are forced

to produce before they feel ready will raise their filters blocking learners' processing of input.

According to this theory, there is a need for the creation of a kind of environment in the language classroom that resembles the condition where L1 learning takes place. There are certain practical implications for classroom practice consistent with the Monitor Theory that form the basis for the Natural Approach (see <u>Chapter 2</u>).

#### **The Interaction Hypothesis**

The Interaction Hypothesis focuses on how interactions affect acquisition with the view that input is a key ingredient for the acquisition of a second language. Interactional input refers to input received during interaction where there is some kind of communicative exchange (and negotiation) involving the learner and at least one other person.

NATIVE SPEAKER: How are you, Alessandro?

ALESSANDRO: Fine, thanks.

NATIVE SPEAKER: How was your weekend?

ALESSANDRO: Sorry?

NATIVE SPEAKER: Saturday, Sunday ... did you enjoy?

ALESSANDRO: Ah, Yes.

The Interaction Hypothesis explores how such interactions affect acquisition in essentially two ways: (1) by modifying input and (2) by providing feedback related to the linking of form and meaning. A form-meaning connection is the mapping of a form and the meaning that the form encodes. For example, the word *car* is a lexical form that corresponds to the meaning of a "vehicle with four wheels."

Through interactions, learners have the advantage of being able to negotiate meaning and make some conversational adjustments. Input modifications happen when the other speakers adjust their speech due to perceived difficulties in learner comprehension or they provide corrective feedback.

This theoretical framework makes the following claims:

• Input is an essential element in language acquisition. It consists of two types: interactional and noninteractional. Interactional input is that received during interactions where there is some kind of communicative exchange involving the learner and at least another person (e.g.,

conversation, classroom interactions); noninteractional input occurs in the context of nonreciprocal discourse and learners are not part of an interaction (e.g., announcements).

- Interaction plays an important role in second language acquisition. It gives learners the opportunity to be exposed to input, notice language they wouldn't notice otherwise, and produce target language.
- Negotiation of meaning in conversations or interactions occurs when there is communication breakdown between two speakers and an adjustment is made to facilitate comprehension (see previous example).
- Corrective feedback (see <u>Chapter 5</u> for more information about the types and role of corrective feedback) is used when speakers indicate to other speakers that what they have produced is nonnative like. Interactions that elicit feedback (implicit and form focused) can have a facilitative role in acquisition.
- Output refers to the language learners need to produce the target language to express meaning. It can play a number of roles: it might cause noticing through interactions; it might help the formulation of hypotheses about the target language that learners can test during language production.

Noticing refers to the fact that learners would need to notice linguistic elements in the input for those elements to be learned. This implies that learning requires some level of awareness.

The Interaction Hypothesis provides some clear implications for language pedagogy. It suggests a new classroom dynamic in which instructors and learners take new roles and responsibilities in the language classroom. Teachers are playing the role of "architects" as they are planning a language task and learners must take more responsibilities in completing the task. Learning is becoming more learner centered. Comprehensible and message-oriented input and interactions play key roles in the acquisition of a second language. Learners and instructors are engaged in a number of interactions (clarification requests, confirmation checks, and comprehension checks), which facilitates language acquisition. Output practice should help learners use the target language to accomplish a task (see <u>Chapter 3</u>) and language production should not be simply mechanical practice void of meaning. Grammar instruction (see <u>Chapter 5</u>) might be beneficial if it is provided by enhancing the input through the use of different pedagogical intervention (e.g., input enhancement, textual enhancement). It might have a facilitative role in helping learners pay attention to the formal properties of a target language without the need of metalinguistic discussion.

The main concepts of this theoretical framework can be associated to teaching approaches such as the Communicative Language Teaching and Task-Based Language Teaching.

#### The Processability Theory

The Processability Theory is a theory of language development that accounts for how learners develop and use certain output processing procedures to string words together in speech production. These procedures emerge over time in a particular order and cannot be skipped by learners. For example, in English question formation, L2 learners, no matter their L1s, would initially produce sentences without the "copula inversion" (*Where she is?*) before they produce the correct sentence (*Where is she?*). Learners acquire single structures (i.e., negation, question formation) through predictable stages.

The Processability Theory makes two main claims:

- The theory supports the view that second language acquisition can be broken down in stages. L2 learners can only produce linguistic forms for which they have acquired the necessary processing capacities. If a learner is at stage 3, he or she cannot produce – in a creative fashion – grammatical structures that require the procedures at stages 4 and above;
- Learners follow a very rigid route in the acquisition of grammatical structures. Structures become learnable only when the previous steps on this acquisition path have been reached.
- Learners might display individual variation with regard to the extent they apply developmental rules and they acquire and use grammatical structures.

Language acquisition is stagelike.

The main claims of the theory are translated in the so-called teachability hypothesis. This hypothesis argues that learners would only acquire language features in a predictable order. Language teachers must take into consideration that L2 learners will not be able to produce forms or structures for which they are not ready.

#### **The Input Processing Theory**

The Input Processing Theory explains how learners perceive and detect formal features in language input. When learners are exposed to target language input, only a small portion of that input is processed (this reduced portion of input is called "intake"). This is due to two main factors: (1) humans' limited capacity for processing information; and (2) use of processing strategies to cope with the amount and type of information that the mind has to process. For example, when the same meaning is encoded both lexically and grammatically, L2 learners might not process the grammatical item, as they prefer to extract the meaning of the sentence from the lexical item (see following examples).

<u>He</u> talk<u>s</u>

He won two prizes

In the first sentence, both the subject pronoun (He) and the verbal marker (-s) encode the same meaning (third-person singular). In the second sentence, both the adjective (two) and the noun inflection (-s) express the concept "more than one." Learners tend to process information economically and efficiently by processing words before grammatical forms (e.g., verb forms, noun inflections). What we mean by this is that learners would skip in both cases the processing of the grammatical features.

Processing strategies seem to provide an explanation of what learners are doing with input when they are asked to comprehend it, either in aural or written forms.

The Input Processing Theory makes two main claims:

• Learners process input for meaning (words) before they process it for form (grammatical features). In a sentence such as "Yesterday I watched my son playing in the park," which contains a lexical feature encoding a particular meaning (temporal reference "yesterday"), learners will tend to process the lexical item (Yesterday) before the grammatical form (*-ed*) as they both encode the same meaning. This is due to the use of processing

strategies, which causes learners to skip grammatical features in the input and failure in mapping one form to one meaning;

• Learners parse sentences as they need to figure out who did what to whom. When they do that, they parse sentences relying on word order and employ a first noun processing strategy that assigns subject or agent status to the first noun or pronoun they encounter in a sentence. In the sentence "Paul was kissed by Mary," learners erroneously assign the role of agent to the first noun or noun phrase in the sentence and therefore misinterpret the sentence as it was "Paul who kissed Mary." This can cause delay in the acquisition of syntax.

Form-meaning mapping is when a connection is made between a form and the meaning that the form encodes.

This theory has particular relevance in relation to its pedagogical model called "processing instruction." Manipulating the input might help learners to process language grammar features more efficiently and accurately (see processing instruction and structured input tasks in <u>Chapter 5</u> in this book).

#### The Skill Acquisition Theory

The Skill Acquisition Theory relates to a cognitive and information processing model centered on the following stages of development: cognitive, associative, and autonomous. According to this theory, second language acquisition results from exposure to input and the ability for L2 learners to process information and to build networks of associations. Second language acquisition would entail going from controlled mode of operation (declarative knowledge) to automatic mode (procedural knowledge) through repeated practice.

Second language acquisition entails to go from declarative to procedural knowledge.

This theory addresses issues related to the way language learners develop fluency and accuracy.

The three main claims in the Skill Acquisition Theory are:

- Learning begins with declarative knowledge (information is gathered and stored) and slowly becomes procedural (people move toward the ability to perform with that knowledge). Declarative knowledge involves acquisition of isolated facts and rules (e.g., *knowing that a car can be driven*).
   Procedural knowledge requires practice and involves processing of longer units and increasing automatization (e.g., *knowing how to drive a car*).
- The theory is only applicable to learning situations in which the following four criteria are met: adult learners are of high aptitude; structures are simple for learning; learners are at fairly early stages of learning; and the context is instructional.

In relation to language teaching, this theory views second language acquisition as a process that entails going from controlled mode (declarative knowledge) to automatic mode (procedural knowledge) through repeated practice. Learners need to be taught explicitly and need to practice the various grammatical features and skills until they are well established, thereby reaching increased level of fluency.

#### Emergentism

Emergentism is a cognitive theory that accounts for how learners develop language abilities and competencies. According to this theory, second language acquisition is governed by similar processes and principles that underpin everything else in human knowledge. Language acquisition is a dynamic process in which a number of elements (e.g., regularities, frequencies, associations, L1, interactions, brain, society, and cultures) operate and are responsible for the emergence and development of the second language.

Frequency and regularity are key factors in second language acquisition.

The theory makes two main claims:

- Language acquisition is an implicit process where frequency in the input is a key factor. Acquisition is the result of a learner's interaction with the surrounding environment. Language and its properties emerge over time and are the result of cognitive mechanisms interacting with input.
- Language and its properties emerge over time and are not the product of an innate mechanism constraining language learning. What is meant by this is that language elements and properties are not universals as argued by the Universal Grammar Theory. A second language develops as a result of the interaction between cognitive learning mechanisms and input from the environment. Language instructors should therefore provide learners with exposure to form to help them to develop their new language system.

According to this theory, frequency and regularity are key factors in language acquisition. Acquisition is the result of a learner's interaction with the surrounding environment. Language and its properties emerge over time and are the result of cognitive mechanisms interacting with input. The implication for teaching is that it is better for the language instructor to expose L2 learners to the

real and natural settings so that they could have a better perception of the world and thus increase their knowledge. The more knowledge about the language, the more interaction is initiated and carried out by the learners. Although the role of grammar instruction is limited and it is not always effective, it can have a facilitative role in developing "noticing" of target forms that might not be salient in the input language and speeds up the rate of acquisition.